
 

Agenda - Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

Meeting date: 12 February 2020 

Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact: 

Sarah Beasley 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddHealth@assembly.wales
------ 

Informal pre-meeting (09.15-09.30)  

 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

2 General scrutiny: Evidence session with the Welsh Ambulance 

Services NHS Trust 

(09.30-11.00) (Pages 1 - 39)  

Martin Woodford, Chair, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

Jason Killens, Chief Executive, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

Dr Brendan Lloyd, Medical Director, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

Claire Roche, Executive Director of Quality and Nursing, Welsh Ambulance 

Services NHS Trust 

 

Research brief 

Paper 1 – Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (vi) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of this meeting 

(11.00)   

4 General scrutiny of the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust: 

Consideration of evidence 

(11.00-11.15)   

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-06-20 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

National Assembly for Wales Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
General Scrutiny Session: Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust: 12 February 2020 

Introduction 
1. The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust welcomes the opportunity to provide 

evidence to Committee as part of its general scrutiny sessions with NHS Trusts and 
health boards. 

2. This briefing paper will provide members with an organisational profile, as well as an 
outline of the breadth of the work of the ambulance service and recent performance 
pressures by way of background. 

3. In addition, Committee has specifically asked for detail on: 





The challenges and issues faced by the Welsh Ambulance Service 
How the organisation’s IMTP is making an active contribution to the delivery of A 
Healthier Wales 
Waiting times, call management procedures and categorisation of calls 

4. This document will provide brief detail on the matters outlined above and colleagues 
look forward to elaborating on these issues at the forthcoming scrutiny session. 

Organisational Profile 

5. In recent years, the ambulance service has changed significantly, moving from what 
was predominantly a transport service to one which now provides clinical care and 
clinically focused transport services to some three million people across Wales, an 
area of almost 8,000 square miles, spread across a diverse and challenging urban, 
coastal and rural landscape. 

6. In 2018/19, we employed more than 3,000 people, operating from 113 buildings, 
with 715 vehicles in our fleet. 

7. Our services span three main areas – unscheduled, emergency care; planned non- 
emergency clinical transport and telephone and online advice and triage. 

8. Our unscheduled care services (emergency and urgent care) provide support to 
patients with illnesses that are immediately life-threatening through to minor 
injuries. We are increasingly providing services and pathways to keep patients out of 
hospital, treating them at home or on scene where it is clinically appropriate to do 
so. 

9. Each year, our Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service (NEPTS) supports hundreds 
of thousands of patients with a clinical need for transport to get to their hospital and 
medical appointments and home again, including for life sustaining services like 
renal dialysis and cancer treatment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Pack Page 15



10. NHS Direct Wales (NHSDW) provides telephone and online advice to patients who 
feel unwell, helping to signpost patients to, or arrange, the most appropriate care for 
them. 

11. The 111 service, which we host on behalf of NHS Wales and which was introduced 
from 2016, is being rolled out across Wales and provides the basis for a more 
integrated model of future health and care provision. 

A Commissioned Service 
12. Ambulance services in Wales are commissioned on a collaborative basis by the seven 

health boards through the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee (EASC) and 
the Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner (CASC). Both emergency and non- 
emergency ambulance services are commissioned in this way. 

13. The Commissioning Quality & Delivery Frameworks for Emergency Medical Services 
and Non-Emergency Patient Transport Services (CQDFs) set out what is expected of 
us by our commissioners and focus on how we can make real improvements for our 
patients. Both are based on a five step model of service delivery, which breaks down 
the patient journey by need. 

Visual representations of the five step models are shown below: 

Figure 1: Five-Step EMS Ambulance Care Pathway 

Designed with permission using the CAREMORE® 5 steps. Copyright, 
Ambulance Service Trust. 

2017 Welsh 

Figure 2: Five-STEP NEPTS Care Pathway 

Designed with permission using the CAREMORE® 5 steps. Copyright, 2017 Welsh 
Ambulance Service Trust. 

14. Each year, we agree commissioning intentions with our commissioners and the 
delivery of these is central to our work. 

3 

 

Pack Page 16



Demand Profile 
15. The data below highlights the level of activity in terms of Welsh Ambulance services 

in 2018/19. 

534,970 999 calls were answered by our staff at our Clinical Contact Centres 
(CCCs). That is slightly down on the previous year’s figure of 540,891 
These translated into 465,552 verified incidents (we often receive more than one 
call about the same incident) 
246,788 of those emergency patients were conveyed to hospital 
Our Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service (NEPTS) made 787,931 patient 
journeys during the year, which was slightly up on the previous year’s figure of 
787,666 
243,840 calls were made to NHS Direct Wales (NHSDW) and 3,696,770 visits 

were made to the NHSDW website. Both these figures were down on the 
previous year 
276,580 calls were made to 111 service, which brings together the services of 
NHS Direct Wales and the GP out-of-hours service in Swansea, Bridgend, Neath 
Port Talbot, Carmarthenshire, Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion and Powys. This is an 
increase on the previous year and reflects the commensurate decrease in calls to 
NHSDW 











16. However, during 2019/20 we have seen the pattern of demand for services continue 
to change, particularly in respect of Red demand, which has shown a significant 
increase. 

17. This, together with a range of other factors, has led to a deterioration in response 
times, with a commensurate impact on patient safety. These issues, and the 
ambulance service’s response to them, are outlined in more detail later in this 
document. 

The Clinical Model 
18. Committee has asked specifically for information on the clinical model used by the 

Welsh Ambulance Service and the way in which calls are categorised. 

19. In October 2015, a revised clinical model was introduced, which focused on 
prioritising those patients whose condition was immediately life-threatening. 
Following a pilot period and independent review, the model was confirmed as 
permanent in early 2017. 

20. At the heart of the model is a focus on quality and clinical outcome as key indicators, 
using time targets for those conditions where time has a significant impact on 
patient outcome. Calls where the patient is in imminent danger of death, for 
example as a result of cardiac or respiratory arrest, are categorised as RED calls and 
have an eight minute response target in 65% of cases across Wales. 

21. The basis of the clinical model is detailed in the table below. 

4 

 

Pack Page 17



Figure 3: Clinical Response Model 

22. The clinical response model is regularly reviewed for appropriateness and 
effectiveness. 

23. In terms of the categorisation of calls, the Welsh Ambulance Services uses the 
internationally recognised and globally used Medical Priority Dispatch System 
(MPDS). 

24. This is a unified system used to dispatch appropriate aid to medical emergencies 
including systematised caller questioning and pre-arrival instructions. 

25. MPDS involves caller being asked a set of standard key questions. These questions 
allow the call handler to categorise the call by chief complaint which sets a priority 
relating to the severity of the patient's condition, i.e. red, amber or green. 

26. In 2019, the Trust’s Medical Director reviewed and compared the placement of 
MPDS determinants by category with that of NHS England’s recently introduced 
Ambulance Response Programme (ARP). This work found minimal variation with 
England in terms of categorisation. 

5 

 

Pack Page 18



27. The Trust has Centre of Excellence’ status from the International Academy of 
Emergency Dispatch for all three of its 999 Clinical Contact Centres. 

28. This award is recognition of the high standards of use of the Medical Priority 
Dispatch System (MPDS) by the Trust’s call handlers and all colleagues in the CCC 
who receive, process and dispatch help to our patients. 

29. There are more than 3,000 emergency medical dispatch centres using MPDS 
worldwide, managing around 65 million incidents per year. Only 250 have achieved 
accreditation as a Centre of Excellence 

Performance over the last 12 months 
30. It has been a challenging year across the health system in Wales and, regrettably, it 

has meant that we have not always been able to deliver the quality and timeliness of 
emergency response services that we would want and the public should expect. 

31. For the first time since the introduction of the new clinical response model in 
October 2015, our Red response has fallen below the 65% target and our response 
to Amber patients is longer than it should be. 

32. The reasons for this are complex and multi-faceted and require targeted and 
immediate action to address these issues in real time. 

33. We also continue to work in close collaboration with our health board and other 
partners to tackle the system-wide issues facing NHS Wales by embracing 
opportunities to deliver large scale transformational change quickly. 

34. It is crucial that we deliver immediate and sustainable improvements not only for 
our patients, but also for the people who work and volunteer for us. 

35. In respect of demand, there has been both a trend of rising volume and acuity, as 
demonstrated in the tables below: 

6 

 

Pack Page 19



Figure 4: Total Verified Demand by Category 

36. Figure 4 demonstrates that demand is growing in acuity (Red and Amber demand), 
and is fairly static in the lower acuity category (Green). This is in line with that is 
being reported by health boards in terms of the acuity of patients they are seeing via 
their emergency departments. 

37. Figure 5 demonstrates the increase in Red demand profile, with Red demand 
increasing over the year from approximately five per cent of call volume, to some 
seven per cent of call volume. 

7 

 

Pack Page 20



Figure 5: Proportion of Total Verified Incidents by MPDS Priority – RED, AMBER1, 
AMBER2, GREEN2, GREEN3 

38. Some of this increase is accounted for by an update to call handling practices in the 
summer of 2019 as part of the continual review of the clinical response model to 
ensure the appropriate categorisation of calls. This is particularly in relation to the 
categorisation of respiratory calls and further work is being undertaken to 
understand this change. 

39. Against a backdrop of rising demand, while the target of 65% has regrettably been 
missed for two consecutive months in November and December 2019, the 
ambulance service is actually getting to more patients within eight minutes. 

40. By way of example, in December 2019, our performance against the Red target was 
62% for 3140 calls (1946 Red incidents within eight minutes), compared with 
equivalent data for December 2018, which recorded performance at 72.78% for 
2414 Red calls (1757 red incidents within eight minutes). 

41. While we are not complacent about missing the Red performance target, this is an 
example of where the percentage performance level can be misleading. While 
December 2019 performance was indeed 62% (itself an improvement on November 
2019’s figure of 61.4%), these figures demonstrates that we reached 189 more 
patients in eight minutes in December 2019, compared to the same month in 2018. 

42. The reasons for diminished performance do not, however, rest solely on increased 
demand. The constraints on our performance, particularly in terms of extended 

8 

 

Pack Page 21



delays to handover at hospitals, have significantly worsened this year, which has had 
a material impact on the organisation’s ability both to meet its Red performance 
target and to respond in a timely manner to patients, predominantly in the amber 
category, who are experiencing extended waits in the community while resources 
are delayed at hospitals. 

43. Such delays have had a significantly deleterious effect on the availability of 
ambulance resources. Ambulance availability was one of the key determinants of 
improved performance highlighted by the November 2018 Amber Review. 

44. To provide Committee with a flavour of the impact of handover delays, Figure 6 
shows the significant growth in delays across health board areas. 

Figure 6: Lost Hours to Notification to Handover Delays 

45. Taking the same chart and overlaying it with Red response time, as in Figure 7, 
highlights a clear correlation between performance against target and the level of 
delay. 

9 

 

Pack Page 22



Figure 7: Red Median Response Times against Lost Hours 

46. The impact of delays is also evident in the deteriorating experiences of our patients, 
whether that is the result of an initial extended delay in ambulance attendance or a 
subsequent delay at hospital. 

47. Many of these patients will be in the amber category. Given the pressure on 
ambulance availability, it is often these patients who experience extending waiting 
times for an attendance. 

48. Amber performance remains a concern. The underlying trends for amber response 
times are increasing. In November 2019, amber median, 65th and 95th percentile 
response times all continued to increase compared to previous months. All amber 
response times are considerably higher than the same period the previous year. 

49. Similarly, the concerns the ambulance service receives originate predominantly from 
patients (their families, carers or advocates) in this category. 

50. While the level of concerns received from patients, their families and carers has seen 
a steady increase, there has been an equally worrying trend in the reporting of 
serious adverse incidents, a significant proportion of which again relate to patients in 
the amber category. 

51. Many of these remain under investigation, often jointly with the relevant health 
board, but emerging themes suggest that delayed arrival of an ambulance is a 
contributory factor in many of these incidents. 

52. Figures 8 and 9 below demonstrate the sharp rise in SAIs and the distribution of 
those SAIs across health board areas. 

10 

 

Pack Page 23



53. There is a correlation between those health board areas where SAIs are most 
commonly reported and those health board areas where handover delays are most 
significant, notably in the Swansea Bay and Aneurin Bevan Health Board areas. 

54. Conversely, where handover delays have improved compared with previous years, 
for example Betsi Cadawalader University Health Board, reported serious adverse 
incident numbers have reduced. 

Figure 8: Number of Serious Adverse Incidents Reported to Welsh Government 

Figure 9: SAIs reported to Welsh Government by Health Board Area 

55. In response to these performance challenges, and recognising the need to address 
the immediate challenges we face that are adversely affecting the quality, safety and 
performance of our core services, we have re-calibrated the approach and focus of 
our 2020/21 IMTP. Without losing sight of our long term goals, the primary aim of 
this plan is to deliver those actions in the first year of this plan that will stabilise and 
improve performance. 

11 

 SAIs Reported to WG split by HB 
 ABHB SBHB BCUHB CVHB CTHB HDHB POHB Total 

2017/18 17 10 12 6 2 1 0 48 

2018/19 11 7 13 15 1 4 0 51 

2019/20 to date 10 12 0 5 1 3 1 32 

 

Pack Page 24



Improving Performance and Transforming the Service 
56. Significant work has already been undertaken to address performance and improve 

care for patients. 

57. As an ambulance service, we have taken steps to take a system leadership role in 
respect of unscheduled care more broadly and, supported by Welsh Government, 
we are currently working through how this will operate in practice. 

58. That said, our pan-Wales footprint and perspective, coupled with our role often as a 
“barometer” of the unscheduled care system, position the Welsh Ambulance Service 
well in terms of understanding the profile and nature of changing demand and the 
likely impact on the broader system. 

59. Similarly, developing and using the skills of our staff and volunteers in different ways, 
both to improve outcomes for patients and, where possible and clinically safe, to 
maintain people at home or treat at scene, thus avoiding conveyance to hospital, has 
been an increasing focus of our work. 

60. Our advanced paramedic practitioners (APPs) are able to treat patients with complex 
conditions more effectively at home, thus reducing the need for a hospital 
admission. 

61. 2019 saw the introduction of prescribing APPs, the first ambulance service in the 
country to do so, which is evaluating well. This development was recently covered by 
BBC News 

62. Similarly, we have invested in services to support patients who have fallen, as well as 
those with dementia or mental ill health, as well as investing significantly in clinicians 
in our clinical contact centres who have a key role to play in supporting patients and 
our road staff. 

63. By way of example, our “hear and treat” rates, where clinicians are able to support 
and signpost patients over the telephone, thus avoiding dispatch of an ambulance, 
continue to improve. 

64. The Clinical Service Desk (CSD) and NHSDW (Hear & Treat) achieved 8.6% 
performance in November, compared to 7.7% in November 2018 and 8.5% in 
November 2017. 3,630 ambulances were stopped in November 2019, compared to 
2,895 in November 2018. Indeed, conveyance rates in general are reducing. 

65. We continue to work with health boards on referral pathways for a number of 
conditions, which ambulance service colleagues can refer patients to and/or gain 
direct access to community-based services. 

66. On an organisational level, we continue to address unacceptably high levels of 
sickness absence, recognising the impact of “moral injury” as a result of frustratingly 
long handover delays on the wellbeing of our people. 

12 

 

Pack Page 25

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/health-50950821/welsh-paramedics-providing-prescriptions


67. We have increased our shift cover during key periods of the winter period using a 
system of incentives linked to attendance to ensure that we are resourcing our 
teams appropriately at times of peak demand. 

68. Similarly, we have made significant improvements in our handover to clear rates and 
the recent demand and capacity review has addressed roster efficiency. 

69. Our approach to public messaging has influenced demand at peak times, as well as 
increased use of other sources of support, for example the online symptom checkers 
provided by NHS Direct Wales. 

70. These actions notwithstanding, it is important that we continue to look at longer 
term, sustainable solutions to some of these complex issues. 

71. Following the challenging winter of 2017/18 and deteriorating response time 
performance for calls in the Amber category, a review was launched in May 2018 to 
look at Amber performance, commissioned by the Chief Ambulance Services 
Commissioner. 

72. The Welsh Ambulance Service worked closely with the review team and our health 
board partners to understand the system issues which were adversely affecting 
Amber performance. The overall conclusion of the Review was as follows 

“We have found that there are a number of patients in the amber category that are 
waiting too long to receive a response. The overriding factor in improving this is the 
availability of ambulance resources and not the categorisation of these patients as 

amber. .” 

73. The Review made nine recommendations: 

1. Measures of quality and response time should continue to be published, 
although they need to reflect the patient’s whole episode of care 
Measures should be developed in collaboration with patients 
There should be a programme of engagement to ensure clarity on the 
role of emergency ambulance services and how calls are prioritised and 
categorised 
NHS services in Wales must improve and simplify their offering of 
alternative services 
There must be sufficient numbers of clinicians in the contact centres to 
ensure patients receive the most appropriate level of care 
The ambulance service must ensure that planned resources are sufficient 
to meet expected demand 
The ambulance service must deliver against it planned resource 
Health Boards must take appropriate actions to ensure that lost hours for 
ambulances outside hospitals reduce 
The longest waits for patients in the community must be reduced 

2. 
3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 
8. 

9. 

13 

 

Pack Page 26



74. Since the Amber Review reported in November 2018, the Welsh Ambulance Service 
has worked closely with the Chief Ambulance Services Commissioner and his team, 
as well as health boards, to address the Review’s findings and recommendations, 
notably the fact that 'ambulance availability' was the single main determinant for the 
timeliness of Amber response. 

75. Progress has been made against these recommendations, many of which have been 
detailed elsewhere in this document, but it is acknowledged that more work is 
needed across the unscheduled care system to realise the necessary improvements 
in ambulance delivery. 

76. In January 2020, Minister for Health and Social Services, Vaughan Gething, 
announced the establishment of a Ministerial Ambulance Availability Taskforce to 
lead: 

implementation of recommendations from a recently commissioned 
independent “Demand and Capacity” review 
rapid delivery of alternative pathways and community-based solutions to 
prevent avoidable conveyance to emergency departments 
optimisation of the ambulance patient handover process 
improvement in Red performance, and 
build on progress made by the Amber Review Implementation Programme. 









77. The taskforce will be jointly chaired by the Stephen Harrhy, Chief Ambulance 
Services Commissioner and Professor David Lockey, EMRTS Cymru National Director, 
with membership from relevant leaders from across the health and social care 
system. 

78. This approach will focus not only on Amber responsiveness, but also on the need for 
wider improvements to reflect and respond to the changing environment, such as 
the changing picture of demand and performance for Red calls, increasing handover 
delays and the wider health and social care landscape. 

79. In addition, the Minister announced the development of a system of incentives to 
improve the timeliness of ambulance handover at hospitals, recognising the impact 
such delays can have on patient experience and clinical outcomes through limiting 
available ambulance capacity. 

80. The Welsh Ambulance Service is committed to playing its full part in these 
developments as part of a full system approach to improving ambulance availability 
and patient experience and outcome. 

Demand and Capacity Review 
81. Ambulance availability is a product of demand, ambulance hours produced (in turn a 

product of investment and efficiencies) and lost hours. 

14 

 

Pack Page 27



82. One of the key recommendations of the Amber Review was that we would work 
collaboratively with the Emergency Ambulance Services Committee to commission 
an independent review of emergency medical service (EMS) demand and capacity 
for the next five years (to 2024). 

83. The Demand and Capacity (D&C) Review was undertaken by ORH Ltd, to a brief 
developed collaboratively with commissioners. It aimed to model the resources 
required to efficiently meet current and future demand and to deliver a significantly 
improved range of response times. The Review encompassed both EMS and Clinical 
Contact Centre (CCC) services. 

84. The Review built in a number of modelling parameters and assumed efficiencies, 
which included: 





Demand will increase by 2.3% per year. 
All Health Boards should achieve over 65% red performance, with an all 
Wales target of over 70%. 
On average, Amber 1 patients should receive a response in 18 mins, with 
90% of patients receiving a response in less than 40 mins. 
Hospital handover hours lost would remain at September 2018 levels 
(around 4,500 lost hours per month). 
Our current level of abstractions, including sickness absence, from rosters 
(which are high) should reduce in line with other UK ambulance services. 
In particular, sickness levels would be expected to be reduced to 5.99% 
Hear and Treat rates could increase to 10.2% based on the current 
identified code set for CSD. 
Rosters across all stations should be realigned to more robustly meet 
demand patterns. 
The proportion of RRVs compared to Emergency Ambulances should 
decrease. 
The number of responding Advanced Paramedic Practitioners should 
increase across Wales. 















85. On the basis of all of these assumptions, the Review has identified a requirement for 
an extra 537.5 front line staff by 2024/25, which will be a mix of paramedics, EMTs, 
UCS staff and APPs. An element of this relates to the fact that our budgeted staffing 
levels are not sufficient to cover our current rosters (called the relief gap), and an 
element relates to the fact that we need additional staff over and above the current 
rosters in order to meet increasing demand and to deliver improved response times. 

86. The Review’s summary report went to the November 2019 meeting of EASC, with 
the full final report (plus associated implementation programme plan) expected to 
go to the January 2020 EASC meeting. There is a recognition that final agreements 
on key WAST and system efficiencies may affect the overall number of staff required 
over the next five years. 

15 

 

Pack Page 28



87. However, EASC has acknowledged that, in all scenarios, there is a significant 
investment required in front line staff within the EMS service, and has set out its 
expectation that a minimum of an additional 136 whole time equivalents will be 
recruited and operational by March 2021. 

88. This will have significant implications for the ambulance service and the 
commissioning health boards, and these are currently being worked through. 

89. Indicatively, actions arising from the demand and capacity review are likely to 
include: 
A workforce expansion plan: this will consider and finalise the required skill mix 

of the workforce, plan for and deliver recruitment campaigns to match both 
turnover and agreed year one growth, develop and deliver an expanded number 
of training programmes and ensure that the appropriate corporate infrastructure 
is in place to support this increase in workforce numbers. 
A resource availability plan: this will continue the work that is already underway 
to improve resource availability, including the development of further strategies 
and actions to reduce sickness absence levels of EMS staff to 5.99% within two 
years 
A Roster Review Plan: the D&C review has set out the ideal rosters across Wales 
to match forecast demand, which can be implemented once sufficient staff have 
been recruited to close the relief gap. This plan will be developed in line with the 
processes developed and agreed in previous roster reviews and will be 
implemented in close collaboration with trade union partners. Implementation 
timescales will be agreed with commissioners through the Implementation Board 
A CCC implementation plan: this will include the plans for reviewing dispatch 
desk configurations, and increasing the hear and treat rates in line with the 
Review’s recommendations 
Supporting Fleet and Estates Plans: The significant planned expansion of front 
line staff will have implications for both the fleet and our estate. These will need 
to be considered in detail and capital plans drawn up to ensure that our fleet and 
estate are fit for purpose. 









90. In order to sustain such improvement, we also continue to work towards delivery of 
our long term strategic framework, Delivering Excellence - Our Vision for 2030 which 
was approved by the Board of the Welsh Ambulance Service in March 2019 and is 
framed around the central tenets of the Wellbeing of Future Generation Acts. 

91. It is important that we continue to develop the longer term, sustainable solutions to 
delivery of a high quality and effective service. Without that focus, the service, and 
wider NHS system, will continue to fire fight, which drains the system, and its people, 
of resources and energy. 

Our IMTP and Delivering a Healthier Wales 
92. Our IMTP is framed around the national policy context and describes our 

organisational response to support implementation of the ‘A Healthier Wales’ 
strategy for health and social care in Wales and the long-term ambitions outlined in 

16 

 

 

Pack Page 29

https://www.ambulance.wales.nhs.uk/Media/Documents/About%20Us/Delivering%20Excellence%20Our%20Vision%20for%202030.pdf


the Well-Being of Future Generations Act (WBFGA). It also reflects and responds to 
feedback from our patients, staff and commissioners. 

93. A Healthier Wales is Welsh Government’s plan which “sets out a long term future 
vision of a ‘whole system approach to health and social care’, which is focussed on 
health and wellbeing, and on preventing illness.” It sets out a Quadruple Aim to 
frame the transformation required across health and social care in Wales. 

94. As an ambulance service, we recognise the importance of our contribution towards 
achieving the future vision for health and social care services that is built on the 
foundation of the Quadruple Aim (improved population health, a sustainable 
workforce, better quality and accessible services and higher value care). 

95. Our role is two-fold. Firstly, we have to deliver on our commitments to continuously 
improve our core services, whilst also capitalising on our unique position as a 
national delivery organisation with an ability to connect issues, processes and people 
across the Welsh health and care system through collaboration and partnership 
working. 

96. Secondly, we have framed our Long Term Strategic Framework ‘Delivering 
Excellence’ and this IMTP around our response and commitment to ‘A Healthier 
Wales’ and the Quadruple Aim. The table below provides an overview of what each 
of the aims means from an ambulance service perspective. 

Figure 10: Welsh Ambulance Service Contribution to Delivery of the Quadruple Aim 

17 

Quadruple Aim What this means for us… 
Improved 
population health 
and wellbeing 

 

We have an important role to play in helping to improve the health 
of the population whilst also advocating the importance of active 
and healthy lifestyles to prevent poor health. 
We have developed our first public health plan that describes our 
approach to help improve the health of the population and our 
staff Wellbeing Strategy. 

A motivated and 
sustainable health 
and social care 
workforce 

A highly motivated and committed workforce is crucial to ensure 
that we can provide the highest quality care today and for future 
generations. We describe our approach in our People Strategy. 

 

Better quality and 
more accessible 
health and social 
care services 

 

Our IMTP is underpinned by our commitment to continually 
improve the quality of the services we provide whilst ensuring that 
they are easily accessible wherever and whenever they are 
needed. This commitment in underpinned by “Quality at the Heart 
of Everything We Do” as one of our strategic “Golden Threads” and 
is fundamental to everything we are doing and trying to achieve 
through all the deliverables within our IMTP. 

Higher value health 
and social care 

 

Delivering the best value and outcomes for the patient is central to 
this plan. Through adopting a value based care approach, we aim 
to improve patient outcomes through optimising the efficient use 
of our resources. This is another of our “Golden Threads”. 

 

Pack Page 30



The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act and Collaboration 
97. The Well Being of Future Generations Act (WBFGA) requires public bodies in Wales 

to think about the long-term impact of their decisions, to work better with 
people, communities and each other, and to prevent persistent problems such as 
poverty, health inequalities and climate change. 

98. Whilst the Welsh Ambulance Service is not named in the Act and is, therefore, not 
subject to the legislation, we have embraced its ethos and have committed to 
working within its spirit. As a national organisation, we recognise the vital and 
important contribution we can make through improved awareness and focus on the 
longer term impacts of the decisions we make. 

99. Our organisational focus is on doing what is right for patients and the wider public, 
both now and in the future. We recognise that it is only by adopting the WBFGA’s 
five ways of working that we can overcome the systemic and difficult challenges that 
impact our services on a daily basis. Finding those solutions is predicated on looking 
at the long-term solutions that are designed and built upon the involvement of our 
services users and engagement with our staff, health partners and wider 
stakeholders. 

100. There are many examples in our IMTP that demonstrate our commitment to 
collaboration and working across organisational boundaries. To further improve this, 
we have also developed a detailed and Board-approved Engagement Framework, 
which further embeds our commitment and approach to further our engagement 
and collaboration with all of our stakeholders and, in particular, how we are 
engaging with Regional Partnership Boards. 

101. To demonstrate our commitment, we have aligned each of the 30 
deliverables in our IMTP to the Well-being of Future Generations Act’s seven well- 
being goals and also the quadruple aim at the core of A Healthier Wales. 

102. At the time of writing, our 2021/22 – 22/23 IMTP remains in draft but the 
indicative table below at Figure 11 reflects the emerging actions and objectives, and 
how they align with these important policy drivers. 

18 

 

Pack Page 31



Figure 11: Alignment of WAST IMTP Deliverables with WBFGA/Quadruple Aim 

 Deliverables 2020-2023 
 

Benefits for our staff & users 
 

Headline Outcome & 
Measures/Commissioning Intentions 

Alignment WBFGA 
& Quadruple Aim 

Fo
u

n
d

at
io

n
s 

o
f 

o
u

r 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

Continue to 
Provide the 
Best Possible 
Care, 
Outcomes & 
Experience to 
our Patients 

 

1. Fully embed the 111 service across 
Wales 

2. Transform the EMS service in line 
with the Demand & Capacity Review 
outcomes, increasing numbers of 
front line staff, & working to achieve 
internal & system-wide efficiency 
improvements. 

3. Deliver a range of performance 
improvements throughout the EMS 
service in line with the 
commissioning intentions 

4. Collaborate with partners to 
support wider unscheduled care 
system 

 
5. Continued Transformation of the 

NEPTS, including 
o Completion of transfer of work 

from Health Boards 
o Implementation of Transport 

Solutions 
o Implementation of the outcome 

of the demand & capacity 

- Public will have just one number to call if they need 
help with an urgent medical problem. 

- Patients will receive a timely & appropriate 
response to their emergency call 

- Staff will be able to operate in teams which are 
able to meet demand & cover all their rostered 
shifts 

 
 
 
 

 
- Fewer patients will have to wait outside hospitals 

in ambulances 
 

 
- It will be simple for health care professionals 

(HCPs) to book their service 
- Patients & health boards will receive a high quality 

service that meets their transport needs 
 

- Minimum of 90 extra FTE front line EMS 
Staff by end of March 2021 

- Improvement in 999 call answer time 
- Red performance of 65% at Health Board 

to be achieved & 95th percentile to 
reduce 

- Amber 95th percentile times to reduce 
across each health board area 

- Clinical Indicator performance to 
improve. 

- Percentage of incidents where the first 
arriving vehicle is the ideal to increase 

- Compliance with HCP time requests to 
improve across each health board area 

- Rosters aligned to demand & 
compliance with planned rosters to 
increase 

- Reduction in sickness levels 

- Reduction in number of on the day 
bookings, aborts & cancellations 

- Deliver national call taking for NEPTS, 
- Improve performance for Enhanced 

Provision 
 

 

Enable our 
People to Be 
the Best They 
Can Be 

 

6. Implement the People and Culture 
Strategy 

7. Develop and Implement a Wellbeing 
Strategy 

8. Implement our Transforming 
Education and Training Strategy 

- Staff will have a great colleague experience, safer 
working environments, & will feel valued & cared 
for. 

- Staff will have better access to local, quality 
education & training, & will maintain & improve 

 

- Overall improvements in staff 
engagement (survey) score & 
achievement of workforce KPIs. 

- Sickness rates reduced for all direct staff 
across each of the steps 

 

 

 

P
ack P

age 32



21 

 Deliverables 2020-2023 
 

Benefits for our staff & users 
 

Headline Outcome & 
Measures/Commissioning Intentions 

Alignment WBFGA 
& Quadruple Aim 

  9. 
10. Implement our Leadership and 

Management Development 
Strategy 

11. Implement the volunteering 
strategy (subject to Board approval) 

 

their skills & practice at the top of their scope of 
practice. 

- Staff will have more equitable access to 
development opportunities 

- Our volunteers will feel valued & engaged 
 

- There are staff appraisal processes in 

place 
 

 

Whole 
System 
Partnership 
& 
Engagement 

 

12. Implement the Trust’s Engagement 
plan 

 

- We will be an integral part of health & social care 
partnerships with better collaborative 
opportunities to deliver better & more targeted 
services for our patients. 

  

13. Implement & fully engage in the 
early evaluation of the Major 
Trauma Network 

- By ensuring appropriate clinical transfer to Major 
Trauma units patient outcomes will be improved. 

 

- Implementation of the WAST elements 
of the Major Trauma Network Business 
Case & WAST priorities 

14. Engage with Aneurin Bevan UHB on 
the implementation of the Clinical 
Futures Strategy & opening of The 
Grange University Hospital 

- Ensuring a seamless & quality service for patients 
within Aneurin Bevan 

- Understanding, agreeing & quantifying impacts of 
Health Board strategic service change 

- 
 

Ensure the 
Design & 
Infrastructur 
e of the 
Organisation 
are at the 
Forefront of 
Innovation & 
Technology 

 

15. Develop a Digital Transformation 
Strategy 

 

- Staff will more readily be able to use new 
technology, & will be able to be more agile & 
efficient in their work; optimising the quality & 
efficiency of healthcare efficiency for our patients. 

 

- Collaborate, agree & deliver to 
milestones, a development plan for the 
transition to the NHS Number, 
prioritising the use of the number in the 
Clinical Support Desk 

 

16. Improve & capture sharing & 
utilisation of information through 
improved business intelligence & 
advanced analytics 

 

- Patients will receive more timely responses as a 
result of Optima modelling; through better 
understanding of current performance, future 
demand & changes to the patterns of demand. 

- Staff & commissioners able to easily access 
information on services 

- Adoption of collaborative approach to 
optima predict modelling & 
implementation 

 

17. Utilise technology to improve 
communication with staff 

 

- We are able to connect with staff quickly to ensure 
information is able to be transmitted in real time, 
especially where there is a pressing need. 

 

 

P
ack P

age 33



22 

 Deliverables 2020-2023 
 

Benefits for our staff & users 
 

Headline Outcome & 
Measures/Commissioning Intentions 

Alignment WBFGA 
& Quadruple Aim 

  18. Procure and implement a Welsh 
Ambulance Services NHS Trust 
Electronic Patient Clinical Records 
(EPCR) 

 

- Use of an effective digital solution will allow 
capture & recording of clinical data to further 
demonstrate & improve the quality of care we 
provide our patients 

- Provide significantly improved information for 
staff. 

- CAD/PCR data linked with effect from 
01/04/20 

- 
 

 

19. Procure a NEPTS CAD System 
 

- Patients will more readily be able to use new 
technology to improve how they are able to access 
our service 

 

20. Progress priorities of the Estates 
SOP for the next 3 years. 

 

- Staff will work from buildings & vehicles that are 
comfortable, safe & fit for purpose 

 

- Implications of the Demand & Capacity 
implementation programme are 
reflected into the estate SOP & BJC. 

21. Develop & sign off an Environmental 
& Sustainability Strategy 

 

- Reduction in carbon footprint 
 

- WAST to demonstrate how they will 
meet statutory Welsh Government 
Climate Targets. 

O
u

r 
G

o
al

s 

Goal: Help 
patients & 
staff to stay 
healthy 

22. Implement the Public Health Plan. 
 

-  We will use our thousands of daily contacts with 
people to improve their health & wellbeing 

- Support resilient communities through 
programme of engagement & education 

- More of the public will have been 
exposed to education which will make 
them more confident in managing their 
health 

 

Goal: Help 
patients 
more easily 
access our 
services at 
the right time 

23. Develop & implement a range of 
technologies to enhance the way 
our services can be accessed. 

 

- Patients will more readily be able to use new 
technology to improve how they are able to access 
the right services 

 

  

 

P
ack P

age 34



23 

 Deliverables 2020-2023 
 

Benefits for our staff & users 
 

Headline Outcome & 
Measures/Commissioning Intentions 

Alignment WBFGA 
& Quadruple Aim 

 Goal: 
Provide the 
right care in 
the right 
place, 
wherever & 
whenever it 
is needed 

 

24. Implement an integrated clinical 
hub 

 

- Patients who call 999 will increasingly be able to be 
given advice, seen & treated by our staff or 
referred on to other appropriate community 
services, & will not need to be taken to hospital 

- Reduced pressure on EDs mean that there will be 
fewer patient in ambulances waiting for long 
period outside hospitals 

- Staff will benefit from increased opportunities in 
an expanded career framework 

- 
 

 

25. Work collaboratively with Health 
Boards to provide care closer to 
people’s home and to reduce the 
number of patients who need to be 
taken to emergency departments 
oContinue the expansion of the APP 

role 

oEvaluate & implement non-medical 
prescribing framework 

Agree & implement a number of 
national alternative care pathways 

- Reduced pressure on EDs mean that there will be 
fewer patient in ambulances waiting for long 
period outside hospitals. 

- Patients who call 999 will increasingly be able to be 
given advice, seen & treated by our staff or 
referred on to other appropriate community 
services, & will not need to be taken to hospital 

- Our patients go to the best, most appropriate 
place for the care they need. 

- Staff will benefit from increased opportunities in 
an expanded career framework 

- Utilisation of additional pathways made 
available by Health Boards 

- Proportion of patients referred to 
alternative pathways to increase hear & 
treat & see & treat 

- Reduce variation in conveyance rates 
across Wales. 

- Reporting of agreed clinical indicators 
which complement the benefit 
realisation assumptions for Band 6 
Paramedic investment. 

26. Develop & implement the Older 
People’s Framework including falls 

 

- Higher quality of service for our users & carers 
- Provide alternative pathways working with the 

voluntary sector/social care for staff to apply to 
support older people to stay in the community 

- Consider different support & ways of working for 
our ageing workforce 

- Collaborate & support EASC & HBs to 
develop a national model for transfer & 
discharge (including critical care 
transfers). 

 

27. Continue to implement our Mental 
Health & Dementia Improvement 
Plans 

 

- Ensuring the best & most appropriate response to 
our users with mental health needs. 

- Our staff feel skilled, able & confident to respond 
to our patients 

- 
 

 

P
ack P

age 35



24 

 Deliverables 2020-2023 
 

Benefits for our staff & users 
 

Headline Outcome & 
Measures/Commissioning Intentions 

Alignment WBFGA 
& Quadruple Aim 

  28. Pilot a transfer & discharge service 
(subject to service being 
commissioned) 

- Ensuring our patients are appropriately & safely 
transferred when necessary. 

 

- 
 

 

O
u

r 
G

o
ld

en
 t

h
re

ad
s 

Quality at the 
Heart of 
Everything 
We Do 

 

29. Prepare for the Health & Social Care 
(Quality & Engagement) (Wales) Bill 

 

- A strengthened commitment to our duty of Quality 
to ensure continuous learning & improvements in 
service delivery, outcomes & experiences. 

- Build on our application of Putting Things Right 
with our duty of Candour to be open & honest 
when things go wrong to focus on learning & 
improvements. 

- Strengthens the voice of our citizens by working 
with the new Citizens voice organisation. 

- Demonstrate compliance with the NHS 
Wales Health & Care Standards & 
Commissioning Core Requirements. 

-  Review options & agree approach for 
the routine collection & analysis of 
patient experience data. 

 

 

30. Implement the relevant learning 
from the recent Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg UHB Maternity services 
review. 

- Strengthening professional clinical supervision 
- Engage with service users to seek feedback 

 

 

Value & 
Efficiency in 
Everything 
We Do 

 

31. Continue to work with the Bevan 
Commission, NHS Wales Finance 
Academy & ICHOM 

 

- Ensuring value for money 
- Value based healthcare drives quality by focusing 

on outcomes for patients & carers. 
- Ensure that optimum resource will be for front line 

services as WAST uses its resources as efficiently as 
possible 

 

- Collaborate on evaluation capability, 
methods & programme of work. 

- Known ‘Net Effect’ in terms of activity 
impact, resource impact & performance 
impact will be agreed, identified, 
monitored & reported for key initiatives. 

- Shift of front line spend from current 
levels to 75% 

 

 

P
ack P

age 36



Closing Remarks 

103. There is no doubt that the last 12 months have been particularly challenging, both 

for the Welsh Ambulance Service and for the wider system of unscheduled care. 

104. As an ambulance service, we are in no way complacent and our focus currently, and 

for 2020/21, remains on stabilising performance and expediting key aspects of our plans 
which will help achieve that e.g. recruitment, the development of alternative referral 

pathways etc. 

105. In this respect, we welcome the Minister’s announcement of the creation of an 

ambulance availability taskforce as anything which seeks to achieve system focus on this 

important matter is to be welcomed, for our patients and our people. 

106. Longer term, it is clear that the Welsh Ambulance Service will occupy much more of 

the pre-hospital space, treating patients at scene or at home, while also being a key provider 
of telephone and digital advice and support. 

107. In order to achieve this, our focus must be unrelentingly on the needs of our 

patients, delivering services which are attuned to their requirements and which are not 

defined by organisational or professional boundaries. 

Ends/EVH/Jan20 

 

Pack Page 37


	Agenda
	2 General scrutiny: Evidence session with the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust
	Paper 1: Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust


